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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements of Tuckamore Capital Management Inc. (“Tuckamore”) and all of the information in the
annual report are the responsibility of management, including responsibility for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance
that the information used internally by management and disclosed externally is complete and reliable in all material
respects. Management has evaluated the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures and has concluded
that they are effective.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and include certain estimates that are based on management’s best judgments.
Actual results may differ from these estimates and judgments. Management has ensured that the Consolidated
Financial Statements are presented fairly in all material respects.
Management has developed and maintains a system of internal control to provide reasonable assurance that
Tuckamore’s assets are safeguarded, transactions are accurately recorded, and the Consolidated Financial
Statements report Tuckamore’s operating and financial results in a timely manner. Financial information presented
elsewhere in the annual report has been prepared on a consistent basis with that in the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
The Board of Directors of Tuckamore annually appoints an Audit Committee (the “Committee”) comprised of
Independent Directors. This Committee meets regularly with management and the auditors to review significant
accounting, reporting and internal control matters. The auditors have unrestricted access to the Committee. The
Committee reviews the Consolidated Financial Statements, Management’s Discussion & Analysis, the external
auditors’ report and the annual report. The Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors for their
consideration in approving the Consolidated Financial Statements for issuance to the Shareholders. The Committee
also considers, for review by the Board of Directors and approval by the Shareholders, the engagement or reappointment of the external auditors.
Ernst & Young LLP, an independent firm of chartered accountants, was appointed by the Shareholders to audit the
Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Ernst &
Young LLP has provided an independent auditors’ report.

Dean T. MacDonald
President & Chief Executive Officer

Keith Halbert
Chief Financial Officer

Toronto, Canada
March 6, 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Tuckamore Capital Management Inc.

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Tuckamore Capital
Management Inc. (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December
31, 2013, 2012 and January 1, 2012, and the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive
loss, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Tuckamore Capital Management Inc. as at December 31, 2013, 2012 and January
1, 2012, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2013 and
2012 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Toronto, Canada
March 6, 2014
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TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
December 31,
2013

As at

Assets
C urrent Assets:
C ash and cash equivalents (note 4)
C ash and short-term investments held in trust (note 4)
Accounts receivable (note 5)
Inventories (note 7)
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets (note 8)
C urrent assets of discontinued operations (note 3)
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment (note 9)
Long-term investments (notes 1, 2 and 24)
Goodwill (notes 10 and 11)
Intangible assets (notes 10 and 11)
Other assets (notes 8 and 20)
Total assets
Liabilities and shareholders' equity
C urrent liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 6)
Deferred revenue (note 21)
C urrent portion of obligations under finance leases (note 14)
C urrent portion of senior credit facility (note 13)
Unsecured debentures (note 13)
C urrent liabilities of discontinued operations (note 3)
Total current liabilities
Obligations under finance leases (note 14)
Senior credit facility (note 13)
Secured debentures (note 13)
Unsecured debentures (note 13)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 17)
Shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

December 31,
2012
Restated
(Note 2)

January 1,
2012
Restated
(Note 2)

$

28,883
2,950
145,858
12,721
6,753
2,733
199,898
62,688
28,281
61,128
49,896
633

$

10,543
2,935
160,786
15,926
4,485
2,943
197,618
63,817
27,115
63,839
61,464
685

$

26,134
6,842
132,258
27,044
2,896
3,041
3,517
201,732
60,606
33,160
68,040
77,617
1,711

$

402,524

$

414,538

$

442,866

$

65,807
3,048
6,041
5,481
24,819
105,196

$

72,699
2,705
4,751
80,155

$

82,939
3,016
5,163
10,000
651

$

11,584
84,354
159,700
5,650
36,040
402,524

$

11,678
89,300
152,860
18,781
8,513
53,251
414,538

101,769

$

3,278
85,705
146,314
14,215
13,947
77,638
442,866

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors,

_____________________________
Fraser Clarke, Director

Tuckamore Capital Management Inc.

__________________________
Dr. Cal Bricker, Director
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TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
Years Ended December 31
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
2013

2012

Restated
(Note 2)
$ 673,111 $
683,756
(531,894)
(560,323)

Revenue (note 16)
C ost of revenue
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Amortization of intangible assets (note 10)
Depreciation (note 9)
Income from equity investments (notes 1, 2 and 24)
Interest expense (notes 4 and 13)
Loss on de-recognition of debt (note 13)
Restructuring costs
Write-down of goodwill and intangible assets (notes 10 and 11)
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense - current (note 17)
Income tax recovery - deferred (note 17)
Loss from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
(net of income tax) (note 3)
Loss and comprehensive loss
Loss per share (note 18)
Basic & Diluted:
C ontinuing operations
Net loss

141,217
(103,634)
(8,973)
(15,210)

123,433
(91,853)
(10,824)
(14,438)

5,780
(33,676)
-

5,891
(32,606)
(1,534)
(861)

(5,713)

(9,268)

(20,209)
(3)
2,831

(32,060)
(671)
5,206

(17,381)

(27,525)

$

(17,381) $

1,962
(25,563)

$
$

(0.24) $
(0.24) $

(0.38)
(0.36)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except number of shares)

(Restated - See Note 2)

Balance - January 1, 2013
Net loss and comprehensive
loss for the year
Stock-based compensation (note 19)
Balance - December 31, 2013

Number of
shares

Share
C apital

71,631,431

$414,884

-

-

71,631,431

$414,884

Number of
shares

Balance - January 1, 2012
Net loss and comprehensive
loss for the year
Stock-based compensation (note 19)
Balance - December 31, 2012

Deficit
$

$414,884

-

-

-

-

71,631,431

$414,884

$

(17,381)
$

Share
C apital

71,631,431

(369,726)

Total
C ontributed Shareholders'
Surplus
Equity

(387,107)

Deficit
$

(344,163)

$

170
8,263

53,251
(17,381)

$

170
36,040

Total
C ontributed Shareholders'
Surplus
Equity

$

6,917

$

$

8,093

77,638
(25,563)

1,176

(369,726)

$

-

(25,563)
$

8,093

1,176
$

53,251

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
2013

2012
Restated
(Note 2)

Operating activities:
Net loss for the year
Income from discontinued operations (net of income tax) (note 3)
Items not affecting cash:
Amortization of intangible assets (note 10)
Depreciation (note 9)
Deferred income tax recovery (note 17)
Income from long-term investments
Non-cash accretion expense (notes 13 and 4)
Amortization of deferred financing costs (notes 13 and 4)
Loss on de-recognition of debt (note 13)
Stock-based compensation expense (note 19)
Write-down of goodwill and intangible assets (notes 10 and 11)
C hanges in non-cash working capital (note 23)
C ash provided by discontinued operations
Total cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing activities:
Distributions from long-term investments
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (note 9)
Proceeds on disposition of property, plant and equipment, net
Proceeds on disposition of businesses (note 3)
Purchase of software (note 10)
Decrease in other assets (note 8)
C ash used in discontinued operations
Total cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Financing activities:
Repayment of long-term debt (note 13)
(Increase) decrease in cash held in trust (note 4)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases
C ash used in discontinued operations
Total cash used in financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash
C ash beginning of year
- continuing operations
C ash beginning of year
- discontinued operations
C ash end of year
C ash end of year
- continuing operations
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing
and investing activities:
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
through finance leases

$

(17,381) $ (25,563)
(1,962)
8,973
15,210
(2,831)
(5,780)
12,878
653
170
5,713
9,562
27,167

10,824
14,438
(5,206)
(5,891)
11,112
625
1,534
1,176
9,268
(29,486)
106
(19,025)

4,614
(8,107)
1,423
(406)
52
(2,424)

6,306
(4,250)
737
7,866
(91)
1,026
(7)
11,587

(118)
(15)
(6,270)
(6,403)
18,340

(6,200)
3,907
(5,761)
(384)
(8,438)
(15,876)

10,543

26,134

$

28,883

$

285
10,543

$

28,883

$

10,543

$

19,221

$

22,607

$

7,412

$

13,823

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Tuckamore Capital Management Inc. (“Tuckamore” or the “Company”) is a corporation formed pursuant to the
Business Corporations Act (Ontario). The registered office is located in Toronto, Ontario. Tuckamore was created
to indirectly invest in securities of private businesses, either in limited partnerships or in corporations (collectively
the “Operating Partnerships”).
The annual consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board
of Directors of Tuckamore on March 6, 2014.
1.

Significant accounting policies
a) Basis of Presentation
These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), applicable to the
preparation of financial statements, including International Accounting Stardards (“IAS”) 1, Presentation of
Financial Statements. Standards and guidelines issued but not in effect up to the date of issuance are
discussed in note 1(t).
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.
The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period. In
addition, the Company presents an additional consolidated balance sheet at the beginning of the earliest
period presented when there is a retrospective application of an accounting policy, a retrospective
restatement or a reclassification of items in the financial statements. An additional statement of financial
position as at January 1, 2012 is presented in these financial statements due to the retrospective
application of certain accounting policies; refer to note 1(c) and note 2.
b) Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at December 31, 2013. The Company consolidates the results of its investments over which
it exercises control. Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Specifically, the Company controls an investee if and only if the Company has:


Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee)



Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and



The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:


The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee

Tuckamore Capital Management Inc.
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TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012


Rights arising from other contractual arrangements



The Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control of the
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the statements of comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the
date the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) are attributed to the equity
holders of the Operating Partners even if this attribution results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies into line with the Company’s accounting policies. All intercompany assets,
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Company are eliminated in full on consolidation.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
The following table indicates the accounting method for each of Tuckamore’s consolidated Operating
Partnerships:
Initia l
Inve stme nt
Da te

De c e mbe r 3 1,
2 0 13
P e rc e nta ge
O wne rship

October 2004

100

100

100

Consolidation

Gemma Communications LP
(“ Gemma” )

March 2005

100

100

100

Consolidation

Quantum Murray LP
(“ Quantum Murray” )

March 2006

100

100

100

Consolidation

O pe ra ting P a rtne rship

ClearStream Energy Services LP
(“ ClearStream” ) 1

1

De c e mbe r 3 1, Ja nua ry 1,
2 0 12
2 0 12
P e rc e nta ge
P e rc e nta ge
O wne rship
O wne rship

Ac c ounting
Busine ss De sc ription
Me thod

P rinc ipa l
P la c e of
Busine ss

Provider of oil and gas
maintenance, construction and
wear technology services to both Alberta
the conventional oil and gas
industry and the oilsands
Integrated direct marketing
Ontario
company
National provider of demolition,
remediation and scrap metal
Ontario
services

Included in ClearStream Energy Services LP is Nor-Tech, an 80% joint venture which primarily operates

its business in Alberta. Nor-Tech is an electrical and instrumentation contracting company. Nor-Tech is
accounted for as a joint venture under IFRS. Please see note 1.c), note 2 and note 24 for more details.
c) Investment in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. Those parties are
called joint operators. The Company recognizes its share of the assets, liabilities and benefits generated
from the asset in proportion to its rights.

Tuckamore Capital Management Inc.
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TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary
to determine control over subsidiaries.
The Company’s investments in its associate and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.
Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognized at cost.
The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognize the changes in the Company’s share of net
assets of the associate or joint venture since its acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint
venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortized nor individually
tested for impairment.
The statement of profit or loss reflects the Company’s share of the results of operations of the associate or
joint venture. Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Company’s OCI. In addition,
when there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the
Company recognizes its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity.
Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Company and the associate or joint
venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture.
The aggregate of the Company’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is shown on the
face of the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) and represents
profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate or joint venture.
The financial statements of the associates or joint ventures are prepared for the same reporting period as
the Company. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with the
Company.
After application of the equity method, the Company determines whether it is necessary to recognize an
impairment loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Company
determines whether there is evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If
there is such evidence, the Company calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value, then recognizes the loss in the
consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Company
measures and recognizes any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value
of the retained investment or proceeds from disposal is recognized in the consolidated statement of income
(loss) and comprehensive income (loss).

Tuckamore Capital Management Inc.
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TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
The following table indicates the accounting method for each of Tuckamore’s investments in Operating
Partnerships categorized as associates or joint ventures as at December 31, 2013. Tuckamore invested in
all Operating Partnerships indirectly together with their respective general partners.

O pe ra ting P a rtne rship

IC Group LP
("IC Group")

Titan Supply LP
(“ Titan” )
Gusgo Transport LP
(“ Gusgo” )
Rlogistics LP
("Rlogistics")

Initia l
Inve stme nt
Da te

De c e mbe r 3 1,
2 0 13
P e rc e nta ge
O wne rship

De c e mbe r 3 1, Ja nua ry 1,
2 0 12
2 0 12
P e rc e nta ge
P e rc e nta ge
O wne rship
O wne rship

July 2006

80

80

80

September
2006

92

92

92

October 2006

80

80

80

May 2006

36

36

36

P rinc ipa l
P la c e of
Busine ss

Ac c ounting
Busine ss De sc ription
Me thod
Provider of on- line promotional
Equity method and loyalty programs and select
insurance products
Manufacturer and distributor of
rigging products and services,
Equity method and ground engaging tools to the
oil and gas, and construction
sectors
Transportation and storage
Equity method
services provider
Reseller of close- out, discount
and refurbished consumer
Equity method
electronics and household
goods in Ontario

Manitoba

Alberta

Ontario

Ontario

The following table indicates the accounting method for each of Tuckamore’s investments in Operating
Partnerships sold prior to December 31, 2013, as further described in note 3.

O pe ra ting P a rtne rship
Armstrong Partnership LP
(“ Armstrong” )

Initia l
Inve stme nt
Da te
Oct- 06

Tuckamore Capital Management Inc.

De c e mbe r 3 1, De c e mbe r 3 1, Ja nua ry 1,
2 0 13
2 0 12
2 0 12
P e rc e nta ge
P e rc e nta ge P e rc e nta ge
nil

nil

80

11

Ac c ounting
Busine ss De sc ription
Me thod
Equity method

Provider of in- store promotional
marketing services

P rinc ipa l
P la c e of
Busine ss
Ontario
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TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Financial instruments
(i)

Financial assets and financial liabilities
All financial instruments are classified into one of the following five categories; held for trading, heldto-maturity investments, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets and other financial
liabilities.

The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were

acquired and their characteristics. All financial instruments are included on the consolidated balance
sheets and are measured at fair value except for loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments
and other financial liabilities which are measured at amortized cost.

Held for trading financial

investments are subsequently measured at fair value and all gains and losses are included in net
income in the period in which they arise. Financial assets are measured at fair value with changes in
fair values recognized in other comprehensive income, except for available-for-sale investments that
do not have a quoted market price in an active market and cannot be reliably measured are recorded
at cost.

Category

Financial statement caption

Held for trading

Cash and cash equivalents

Held-to-maturity investments

None owned

Loans and receivables

Accounts receivable

Available-for-sale financial assets

None owned

Other financial liabilities

Accounts payable, provisions, senior credit facility, secured
and unsecured debentures and finance lease obligations
(measured at amortized cost)

Transaction and financing costs, including fees paid to advisors, underwriting and arrangement fees
paid to lenders and other related costs are deferred and netted against the carrying value of the
related debt and amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method. The legal release
of a debt obligation from an old lender to a new lender is considered to be a de-recognition of debt
and, as such, financing costs related to the pre-existing lender are immediately written off. Financing
costs incurred in the process of arranging the debt with a new lender are capitalized against the debt
and amortized over the term of the new debt.
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence of
impairment for each financial asset (or a group of financial assets). A financial asset is deemed to be
impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of an event that has occurred after
the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred loss event) and that loss event has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that the debtor(s) is experiencing financial difficulty, which may
include default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that it will enter

Tuckamore Capital Management Inc.
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TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization, and where observable data indicate that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears payments or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
(ii) Comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) is the change in shareholders’ equity, which results from transactions
and events from sources other than Tuckamore’s shareholders. Other comprehensive income
includes income and expense items that are not recorded in income such as unrealized gains and
losses resulting from changes in the fair value of certain financial instruments classified as availablefor-sale. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, there were no transactions recorded
in other comprehensive income (loss).

(iii) Effective interest method
Deferred financing charges are included in loan balances and are recognized in interest expense over
the term of the related loan. Tuckamore uses the effective interest method to recognize deferred
financing charges whereby the amount recognized varies over the term of the loan based on principal
outstanding.
d)

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories includes
the costs to purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location. Costs
such as storage costs and administrative overheads that do not directly contribute to bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition are specifically excluded from the cost of inventories
and are expensed in the period incurred. The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily
interchangeable and goods or services produced and segregated for specific projects are assigned by using
specific identification of their individual costs. The weighted average cost formula is used for inventories
other than those dealt with by the specific identification of cost formula.

e)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Equipment under finance lease is initially recorded at the present value of minimum
lease payments at the inception of the lease.
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of selfconstructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of
the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment. Borrowing costs related to the acquisition
or construction of qualifying assets are capitalized.
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for
as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Tuckamore Capital Management Inc.
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TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year
and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
Depreciation is calculated following the method that best reflects usage and annual rates based on the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Asset

Basis

Equipment under finance lease

Straight-line

Rate
Lesser of the term of lease or
useful life

f)

Furniture and equipment

Declining balance

14% - 50%

Computer hardware

Declining balance

20% - 100%

Automotive and heavy equipment

Declining balance

15% - 40%

Structural elements of automotive and heavy
equipment

Declining balance

10% - 20%

Buildings

Declining balance

4% and 5%

Leasehold improvements

Straight-line

Shorter of expected useful
life or term of the lease

Impairment of long-lived assets
Assets with definite useful lives, including property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, are
amortized over their estimated useful lives.

Long-lived assets are assessed for impairment at each

balance sheet date, or whenever events or changes in circumstances occur, to assess whether there is an
indication that such assets may not be recoverable.
If the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit (“CGU”) exceeds its recoverable amount, an
impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the CGU to which the
asset belongs is tested for impairment. Value in use is determined using the estimated future cash flows
generated from use and eventual disposition of an asset or CGU discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate.
Assets to be disposed of are separately presented in the consolidated balance sheets and reported at the
lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell and are no longer depreciated. The assets and
liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale have been presented separately in the appropriate
asset and liability sections of the prior period consolidated balance sheet.
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.

If such indication exists,

Tuckamore estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss
is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumption used to determine the asset’s recoverable
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amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount
of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined net of depreciation had the impairment loss not been recognized for the asset in prior
years. Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped into Cash Generating Units (“CGUs”). A
CGU is the lowest level for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. Tuckamore has a total of 9
CGUs. ClearStream is comprised of 5 CGUs (Conventional, Oil Sands, Fabrication, Wear and
Transportation), Quantum Murray is comprised of 3 CGUs (Demolition, Remediation and Metals) and
Gemma is a CGU on its own.
g)

Impairment of goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets
Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the
sum of the amounts allocated to the assets acquired, less liabilities assumed, based on their fair values.
When Tuckamore enters into a business combination, the acquisition method of accounting is used. After
initial recognition goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are not amortized and are tested for impairment annually, or
more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. For the
purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs constituting a
consolidated Operating Partner whose acquisition gave rise to the goodwill. Impairment of goodwill is
tested at the level where goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Therefore, goodwill
may be assessed for impairment at the level of either an individual CGU or a group of CGUs. The
determination of CGUs and the level at which goodwill is monitored requires judgment by management.
Goodwill impairment is determined by assessing whether the carrying value of the CGU or relevant group
of CGUs exceeds the recoverable amount. Indefinite life intangible impairment is determined by assessing
whether the carrying value of the CGU including allocated goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets
exceed the recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of a CGU or group of CGUs fair value less costs to sell and its value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model
is used. Impairment losses recognized in respect of a CGU or group of CGUs are allocated to the carrying
value of goodwill and any excess is allocated to the carrying amount of assets in the CGU or group of
CGUs.

Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of income in those expense

categories consistent with the function of the impaired assets.
h)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired individually or as part of a group of other assets are recognized and measured
at cost. Intangible assets acquired in a transaction, including those acquired in business combinations,
are initially recorded at their fair value. Intangible assets with determinable useful lives, such as customer
relationships, management contracts, computer software and sales orders, are amortized over their useful
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lives and are tested for impairment, as described in note 1(f). Intangible assets having an indefinite life,
such as brands, are not amortized but instead are tested for impairment as described in note 1 (g).
Some intangible assets are contained in a physical form, such as a compact disc in the case of computer
software. When the software is not an integral part of the related hardware, computer software is treated
as an intangible asset.
Intangible assets with determinable lives are amortized using the following methods and rates based on
the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Asset
Customer relationships/management
contracts/sales orders
Computer software

i)

Basis

Rate/Term

Straight-line

2 – 10 years

Declining balance

40%

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recorded on a net or gross basis depending on whether Tuckamore acts as an agent or
principal in the respective transaction.
(i) Marketing
Marketing revenue includes revenue generated from marketing campaign projects, teleservice
programs and the sale of advertisements.

Revenue from marketing campaign projects is

recognized using the percentage of completion method where dependable estimates of progress
toward completion can be made. The stage of completion is assessed by an analysis of costs
incurred to date compared to total costs. Revenue from teleservice programs is recognized as
services are performed, generally based on hours incurred.
(ii) Industrial Services
Industrial services revenue includes revenue from contracts entered into to provide maintenance
and construction services to the energy industry and from contracts to provide demolition and
remediation services. Revenue from such contracts is recorded either using (i) the percentage of
completion method or (ii) as services are performed and related costs are incurred. The stage of
completion is assessed by an analysis of costs incurred to date compared to total costs. When
the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is
recognized only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable.
Provisions for estimated losses on all uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such
losses are determined.

Revenue for demolition services includes consideration in the form of

scrap materials that are recorded as non-monetary transactions measured at fair value using
active market prices (note 26).
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(iii) Other
Other revenue includes revenue from a container transportation service provider, and a
distributor and manufacturer of heavy industrial equipment.
Revenue is recognized as services are performed and upon delivery of products when significant
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer and receivables are
reasonably assured of collection.
j)

Foreign currency translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars
at exchange rates in effect at the consolidated balance sheet dates and non-monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at rates of exchange in effect when the assets were acquired or liabilities
assumed. Revenue and expenses other than depreciation and amortization are translated at rates in
effect at the time of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses are included in income.

k)

Income taxes
Income tax expense or recovery comprises current and deferred taxes. Current tax is the expected tax
payable or recoverable on the taxable income for the year and is recognized in the period to which it
relates.

Amounts included in current tax reflect the income tax expense or recovery relating to the

taxable income of Tuckamore and taxable corporations which are subsidiaries of the Operating
Partnerships.
Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and
jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the

initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be

applied to the temporary differences when they reverse based on the tax laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if

Tuckamore has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets/liabilities and if the
corresponding deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the income taxes raised by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities that intend to settle their
current tax assets and liabilities either on a net basis or simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at
each reporting date and are reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be realized.
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l)

Leases
The determination of a lease arrangement is based on the substance of the arrangement at the
inception date. Leases entered into by Tuckamore as the lessee, which transfer substantially all the
benefits and risks of ownership to the lessee, are recorded as finance lease obligations and included in
property, plant and equipment. All other leases are classified as operating leases under which leasing
costs are recorded as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. In instances where there are
periods of lease incentives, the benefit is allocated over the term of the lease.

m) Stock-based compensation
The fair value of stock options granted is recognized on a graded vesting schedule on a straight-line
basis over the applicable stock option vesting period as stock based compensation expense in the
consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income and contributed surplus on the
consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity.

The initial fair value of the options is

determined based on the application of the Black-Scholes option valuation model at the date the
options were granted. The options granted by Tuckamore are accounted for as equity awards under
IFRS 2, Share-based payments. In accordance with IFRS 2, the services received in relation to the
options granted are recorded as stock based compensation expense and contributed surplus.
n)

Income (loss) per share
The income (loss) per share of Tuckamore is computed by dividing Tuckamore’s income (loss) by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted income (loss) per
share is similar to basic income (loss) per share, except that the denominator is increased to account
for the impact of the number of additional shares that would have been outstanding if the potentially
dilutive shares had been issued and the numerator is adjusted to reflect the stock based compensation
using grant date values.
The shares issuable as options are the only potentially dilutive units.

o)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with remaining maturities, at the date of
investment, of three months or less, and cash on deposit with financial institutions, which are
unrestricted as to their use.

p)

Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, Tuckamore has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures

expected to be required to settle the obligation using a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.
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q)

Discontinued Operations
A discontinued operation represents an Operating Partnership that has been sold or classified as held
for sale. An Operating Partnership is classified as discontinued if its carrying amount will be recovered
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only
when the sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.
In the consolidated statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) of the reporting
periods, and of the comparable period of the previous year, income and expenses from discontinued
operations are reported separately from income and expenses from continuing operations, down to the
level of profit after taxes. The resulting income or loss (after taxes) is reported separately in the
consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).

In the consolidated

balance sheet, assets and liabilities from discontinued operations are reported separately from the
assets and liabilities of continuing operations.
r)

Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the aggregate fair values of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange for control of the acquiree. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition are expensed. Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at fair values at the date of
acquisition, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. Where necessary, management
engages qualified third-party professionals to assist in the determination of fair values.
Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the fair value of consideration paid over the fair value of
the net identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired. If the fair value of consideration paid is
less than the fair value of the net identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired, the difference is
recognized directly in the income statement as a gain on bargain purchase.
If Tuckamore holds a non-controlling interest in an investment immediately before obtaining control,
the existing ownership is remeasured to fair value as at the date control was obtained, with any gain or
loss on remeasurement recognized in income or loss.

A change from a non-controlling interest to

obtaining control is viewed as a significant change in the nature and economic circumstances of the
investment, which results in a change in the classification and measurement of the investment.
s)

Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. However, uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment in future periods to the
carrying amount of the asset or liability affected.
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Significant estimates and judgments made by management in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements are outlined below.
(i)

Control / Joint Arrangements
Judgement has been used in determining whether Tuckamore and its investees have joint control
over the respective joint arrangements. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. It has been concluded that key activities require
the unanimous consent of Tuckamore and their respective investees. In addition to this, judgement
has been used in determining whether the relevant parties to the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint operation. It has been concluded that the relevant parties do have rights to
the net assets of the joint venture and as such, these arrangements are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. Please refer to note 1(c) and note 2 for more information.

(ii)

Business Combinations
The amount of goodwill initially recognized as a result of a business combination and the
determination of fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed includes
the use of management’s judgment with respect to assumptions in fair value.

(iii)

Property, plant and equipment
Measurement of property, plant and equipment involves the use of estimates for determining the
expected useful lives of depreciable assets. Management’s judgment is also required to determine
depreciation methods and an asset’s residual value.

(iv)

Determination of Cash Generating Units (“CGUs”)
Assets are grouped into CGUs that have been identified as being the smallest identifiable group of
assets that generate cash flows, that are independent of cash flows of other assets or group of
assets. The determination of these CGUs was based on management’s judgment with

regards

to

determining the smallest group of assets that includes the asset and generates cash inflows that
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. If the recoverable
amount could not be determined for an individual asset, management identified the lowest
aggregation of assets that generate largely independent cash flows.
(v)

Income taxes
Income tax liabilities must be estimated for Tuckamore, including an assessment of temporary
differences. Any temporary differences will generally result in the recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements.

Tax interpretations, regulations and

legislation are subject to change. As such, income taxes involve estimates regarding the amount
and timing of future taxable income. Deferred tax assets are assessed by management at the end
of the reporting period to determine the likelihood that they will be realized from future taxable
earnings.
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(vi)

Stock based compensation
Assumptions are used in the underlying calculation of fair values of Tuckamore’s stock options. Fair
value is determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model, which is based on significant
assumptions such as volatility, dividend yield, expected forfeitures and expected term.

(vii)

Provisions
Judgment is used in measuring and recognizing provisions and the exposure to contingent
liabilities. Judgment is necessary to determine the likelihood that a pending litigation or other claim
will succeed or a liability will arise and to quantify the possible range of the final settlement.

(viii)

Impairment
There are various estimates used in the annual impairment tests of goodwill and indefinite life
intangible assets. Please refer to note 11 for a summary of these estimates and how they were
derived. Estimates include, but are not limited to, cash flow projections, growth rates, terminal
values and discount rates. Tuckamore’s annual impairment tests of goodwill and indefinite life
intangibles is performed in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year.

t)

New accounting standards and interpretations adopted by the Company

(i)

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
The amendments to IAS 1 require entities to group items presented in other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) on the basis of whether they will or will not subsequently be reclassified to profit
or loss. Amendments to IAS 1 are applicable to annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012.
These amendments did not result in any impact to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

(ii)

IAS 19 Employee Benefits
The amendments to IAS 19 include eliminating the option to defer the recognition of gains and
losses, streamlining the presentation of changes to assets and liabilities with all changes from remeasurement to be recognized in OCI and enhancing the disclosure of the characteristics of
defined benefit plans and the risks that entities are exposed to through participation in those
plans. This amendment did not result in a material impact to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

(iii) IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
The amendments require the disclosure of information that will enable users of an entity’s financial
statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect on the entity’s financial position, of offsetting
financial assets and financial liabilities. This amendment did not result in a material impact to the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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(iv) IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements
IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all entities including special purpose
entities. IFRS 10 replaces the parts of previously existing IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements that deal with consolidated financial statements and SIC-12 Consolidation –
Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 changes the definition of control such that an investor controls
an investee when it is exposed, or has the rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. To meet
the definition of control in IFRS 10, three criteria must be met, including: (a) an investor has
power over an investee; (b) the investor has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (c) the investor has the ability to use its power over the
investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. IFRS 10 had no impact on the
consolidation of investments held by the Company.
(v) IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
IFRS 11 replaces IAS 28 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-controlled Entities – Nonmonetary Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly controlled
entities (JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. Instead, JCEs that meet the definition of a joint
venture under IFRS 11 must be accounted for using the equity method.
The application of this new standard impacted the financial position of the Company by replacing
proportionate consolidation of joint ventures in Titan, Gusgo, IC Group, Armstrong and joint
arrangements at ClearStream (see note 1 and 2) with the equity method of accounting. The effect
of IFRS 11 is described in more detail in note 2, which includes a quantification of the effect on the
financial statements.
(vi) IFRS 12 Disclosure of interest in other entities
IFRS 12 sets out the requirements for disclosures relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries,
joint arrangements, associates and structure entities. Refer to note 1, note 2 and note 24.
(vii) IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all fair value measurements. IFRS
13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on
how to measure fair value under IFRS when fair value is required or permitted. The application of
IFRS 13 has not materially impacted fair value measurements carried out by the Company. Refer
to note 4.
(viii) IAS 36 Impairment of Assets
The amendments to IAS 36 require the disclosure of the recoverable amount of a CGU only when
an impairment loss has been recognized or reversed. These amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The Company has early adopted this section.
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Please refer to note 11 for more details on the Company’s impairment testing for goodwill and
intangible assets.
u)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations were not yet effective as at
January 1, 2013 and have not been applied in preparing these annual consolidated financial
statements. Tuckamore’s intention is to adopt the standards when they become effective.
The following is a brief summary of the new standards:
(i)

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”)
IFRS 9 as issued reflects the IASB’s work to date on the replacement of Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement (IAS 39), and applies to the classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. In November 2013, the IASB issued a
new version of IFRS 9 (IFRS 9 (2013)) which includes the new hedge accounting requirements
and some related amendments to IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures. IFRS 9 (2013) does not have a mandatory
effective date. The impact of this ongoing project will be assessed by the Company as remaining
phases of the project are completed.The impact of IFRS 9 on Tuckamore’s consolidated financial
statements is not known at this time.

(ii)

Amendments to Other Standards
The amendments to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, clarify the criteria that should
be considered in determining whether an entity has a legally enforceable right of set off in
respect of its financial instruments.

Amendments to IAS 32 are applicable to annual periods

beginning on or after January 1, 2014, with retrospective application required. IAS 32 will not
have an impact on Tuckamore’s consolidated financial statements.
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2.

Share of Investments in a joint venture
The application of IFRS 11 impacted the Company’s accounting of its interest in joint ventures. Please refer to
note 1(c), 1(s)(i) and 1(t)(v) for more details. The effect of applying IFRS 11 on the Company’s financial
statements is as follows:

Impa c t on the c onsolida te d sta te me nts of loss a nd
c ompre he nsive loss

De c e mbe r 3 1, 2 0 12

Decrease in the reported revenues

(73,651)

Decrease in the cost of revenue

50,871

Decrease in gross profit

(22,780)

Decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses

15,937

Decrease in depreciation / amortization of intangible assets

741

Decrease in other income

221

Decrease in current tax expense

104

Increase in future tax expense

(114)

Increase in income from long- term investments

5,891

Ne t impa c t on ne t loss a nd c ompre he nsive loss

De c e mbe r 3 1, 2 0 12

Ja nua ry 1, 2 0 12

Increase in long- term investments

27,117

33,160

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(1,539)

(2,491)

Impa c t on the c onsolida te d ba la nc e she e t

Decrease in cash and short- term investments held in trust

(1,564)

(1,266)

Decrease in accounts receivable

(13,631)

(17,115)

Decrease in inventory

(9,862)

(10,420)

Decrease in prepaid expenses

(468)

(590)

Decrease in property, plant and equipment

(2,621)

(3,103)

Decrease in goodwill

(8,627)

(8,627)

Decrease in intangible assets

(1,309)

(1,311)

Decrease in other assets

(1,091)

(1,406)

Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

7,224

8,235

Decrease in deferred revenue

5,446

5,592

Decrease in finance lease obligations

686

779

Decrease in deferred tax liabilities

239

Ne t impa c t on e quity

-

Impa c t on the c onsolida te d S ta te me nt of Ca sh Flows

(1,437)
De c e mbe r 3 1, 2 0 12

Operating

(2,378)

Investing

2,317

Financing

726

Net increase in cash

665

Net decrease in opening cash

(2,204)

Ne t de c re a se in c losing c a sh

(1,539)
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3.

Discontinued operations
Marketing
On June 29, 2012, Tuckamore sold its 80% interest in Armstrong Partnership LP for cash proceeds of $5,366
and a distribution settled of $243. This sale resulted in an accounting gain of approximately $3,186.
Approximately $3,800 of the total proceeds were used to repay the senior credit facility.
Industrial Services
In November 2011, the majority limited partner of Waydex Services LP (“Waydex”) delivered to ClearStream
an offer letter pursuant to the shotgun buy-sell provision of the limited partnership agreement governing
Waydex. In December 2011, ClearStream elected to sell its 40% interest in Waydex to the majority partner.
The buy-sell transaction closed on January 24, 2012 for gross proceeds of $2,500 resulting in a nominal
accounting loss.

Net proceeds were used to repay senior indebtedness in the amount of $2,400. No income or

loss was recorded in 2012 related to Waydex.
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The following tables show the revenue, expenses and net income from discontinued operations for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

For the year ended December 31, 2012
Marketing
Revenue
Expenses
Income before taxes
Gain on sale of investment
Income tax expense - deferred
Net income from discontinued operations
Net income per share - basic
Net income per share - diluted

5,215
(4,877)
338
3,186
(1,562)
$
$
$

1,962
0.02
0.02

The following table shows the assets and liabilities held for sale as at January 1, 2012:

Effect of disposal on the financial position

Industrial

Total assets of discontinued operations
Total liabilities of discontinued operations
Net assets of discontinued operations

3,517
651
2,866
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4.

Financial instruments
a)

Tuckamore has classified its financial instruments as follows:
December
31, 2012

January
1, 2012

$ 28,883
2,950
$ 31,833

$ 10,543
2,935
$ 13,478

$ 26,134
6,842
$ 32,976

$ 145,858
1,467
1,335

$ 160,786
1,359
1,335

$ 132,258
1,410
1,572

Total loans and receivables

$ 148,660

$ 163,480

$ 135,240

Financial liabilities, measured at amortized cost:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
C apital lease obligations
C urrent portion of senior credit facility
Senior credit facility
Secured debentures
Unsecured debentures

$ 65,807
17,625
5,481
84,354
159,700
24,819

$ 72,699
16,429
89,300
152,860
18,781

$ 82,939
8,441
10,000
85,705
146,314
14,215

Total financial liabilities

$ 357,786

$ 350,069

$ 347,614

As at
Financial Assets
Held for trading, measured at fair value:
C ash and cash equivalents
C ash and short term investments held in trust
Total financial assets, held for trading
Loans and receivables, measured at amortized cost:
Accounts receivable
Advances to Joint Venture Operating Partners
Employee loans

December
31, 2013

The fair value of loans and receivables and financial liabilities, other than those discussed below, do not
differ significantly from their carrying value due to their short-term nature and the fact that any interest
on these instruments reflect market rates and are level 3 instruments.

The secured debentures,

unsecured debentures and senior credit facility at December 31, 2013 had fair values of $147,150,
$5,841 and $90,637, respectively compared to $110,143, $6,638 and $90,755, respectively at
December 31, 2012 and $114,548, 11,484 and $103,789, respectively at January 1, 2012.
Cash in trust represents restricted cash, which is backing letters of credit and cash in trust held on
behalf of insurance providers.

Letters of credit are predominately used to secure cash management

services and as a performance guarantee at certain operating partners.
Tuckamore determines fair value of its financial instruments based on the following hierarchy:


Level 1 – Where financial instruments are traded in active financial markets, fair value is
determined by reference to the appropriate quoted unadjusted market price at the reporting
date. Active markets are those in which transactions occur in significant frequency and volume
to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.



Level 2 – If there is no active market, fair value is established using valuation techniques
including discounted cash flow models. The inputs to these models are taken from observable
market data, including recent arm’s length market transactions, and comparisons to the current
fair value of similar instruments; where this is not feasible, inputs such as liquidity risk, credit
risk and volatility are used.
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Level 3 – Valuations in this level are those with inputs that are not based on observable market
data.

The fair value disclosures for the assets classified as held for trading and the secured and unsecured
debentures are categorized as Level 1. The fair value disclosure for the senior credit facility is
categorized as Level 3. The cash flows of the senior credit facility are discounted at the current market
rates.
b)

Net Interest Expense
Tuckamore has recorded net interest expense in relation to the following financial instruments:
For the year ended December 31,

2013

Interest expense on senior credit facility
Interest expense on secured debentures

$

Net interest income earned on advances to Operating Partners
Interest expense on finance leases (note 14)
Interest expense - other
Interest expense on unsecured debentures
Deferred financing costs amortized
Accretion expense related to secured and unsecured debentures
Interest expense

Tuckamore Capital Management Inc.
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$

3,810 $
14,098
(162)
1,191
246
962
653
12,878
33,676
$

2012
4,911
14,098
(160)
943
115
962
625
11,112
32,606

Consolidated Financial Statements 2013

TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
5.

Accounts receivable
Tuckamore establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of expected losses with
respect to trade receivables.

The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that

relates to individually significant exposures, and an overall loss component established based on historical
trends and other information. When a receivable balance is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance for accounts receivable.
Accounts receivable comprise the following:

Trade receivables
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Holdback receivable

December
31, 2013

December
31, 2012

$ 103,706
(3,508)
9,880

$ 123,256
(1,643)
8,540

$

30,633
160,786
$ 160,786

23,773
132,258
$ 132,258

Other

35,780

Total accounts receivable

$ 145,858

January
1, 2012
96,767
(1,276)
12,994

Other receivables primarily consist of unbilled accounts receivable.
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and generally due on 30-90 day terms. The changes in the
allowance during the year were as follows:

Allowance for doubtful accounts, January 1, 2012
Increase in allowance during the year
Receivables written off as uncollectible
Allowance for doubtful accounts, December 31, 2012
Increase in allowance during the year
Receivables written off as uncollectible
Allowance for doubtful accounts, December 31, 2013

$

$

1,276
1,301
(934)
1,643
2,322
(457)
3,508

The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows:
Total

C urrent

30-60 days

61-90 days

91-120 days

>120 days

December 31, 2013 $ 103,706

$

61,809

$

8,807

$

15,931

$

3,321

$

13,838

December 31, 2012 $ 123,256

$

89,876

$

6,643

$

17,799

$

4,618

$

4,320

January 1, 2012

96,767

Tuckamore Capital Management Inc.
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6.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities comprise the following:

Trade payables
Accrued liabilities
Interest payable
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities
7.

December
31, 2013

December
31, 2012

$

$

$

28,957
34,165
2,685
65,807

$

42,486
28,499
1,714
72,699

January
1, 2012
$

$

41,559
31,009
10,371
82,939

Inventories
Inventories comprise the following:

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods
Parts and supplies
Total inventories

December
31, 2013

December
31, 2012

2,687
7,392
1,541
1,101
$ 12,721

$

$

3,226
9,066
2,292
1,342
15,926

January
1, 2012
$

3,583
19,311
3,136
1,014
27,044

$

Work in progress includes amounts for work performed in excess of amounts billed for contracts accounted for
using the percentage of completion method.
Included in cost of revenue is the cost of inventories of $48,068 (2012 – $62,597).
As at December 31, 2013, the inventory of consolidated entities and joint ventures with a carrying amount of
$12,721 and $11,884, respectively, were subject to a general security agreement under the senior credit
facility (December 31, 2012 - $15,926 and $9,862).

8.

Other assets

Advances to Operating Partners
Other
Total other assets

December
31, 2013

December
31, 2012

$

$

1,467
1,899
3,366

Less: C urrent portion
Other assets - long-term

Tuckamore Capital Management Inc.

2,733
$

633

30

1,359
2,269
3,628

January
1, 2012
$

2,943
$

685

1,410
3,342
4,752
3,041
12,545

$

1,711
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9.

Property, plant and equipment

Equipment
under
finance lease

Furniture
and
equipment

Computer
hardware

Automotive
and heavy
equipment

Land and
buildings

$

$

Leasehold
improvements

Total

Cost
Ba la nc e a t Ja nua ry 1, 2 0 12

$

20,517

$

12,199

$

3,733

67,065

5,981 $

7,005

$

116,500

Additions

13,823

585

391

2,420

327

527

18,073

Disposals

(774)

(19)

(26)

(2,006)

(80)

(118)

(3,023)

-

6

-

367

17

-

Other
Ba la nc e a t De c e mbe r 3 1, 2 0 12

$

33,566

$

7,412
(1,560)
(7,139)
32,279 $

972
(580)
77
13,240 $

De pre c ia tion
Ba la nc e a t Ja nua ry 1, 2 0 12
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
Ba la nc e a t De c e mbe r 3 1, 2 0 12

(8,958)
(3,359)
546
(11,771)

(4,290)
(1,255)
3
(5,542)

(2,789)
(457)
17
(3,229)

Depreciation for the year
Disposals
Reclassification
Ba la nc e a t De c e mbe r 3 1, 2 0 13

$

(5,252)
1,853
3,276
(11,894) $

(1,135)
63
381
(6,233) $

(456)
483
(3,202) $

Ne t book va lue
At January 1, 2012
At December 31, 2012
At December 31, 2013

$
$
$

11,559
21,795
20,385

7,909
7,229
7,007

Additions
Disposals
Reclassification
Ba la nc e a s De c e mbe r 3 1, 2 0 13
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$

$
$
$

12,771

31

$

$
$
$

4,098

$

504
(487)
4,115 $

944
869
913

67,846

$

2,085
(6,866)
7,062
70,127 $

$

7,414

390
$

131,940

36
(756)
291
5,816 $

4,510
(297)
(291)
11,336 $

15,519
(10,546)
136,913

(1,711)
(179)
8
(1,882)

(4,021) $
(1,210)
115
(5,116) $

(55,894)
(14,438)
2,209
(68,123)

(7,121)
6,200
(3,657)
(45,161) $

(172)
259
136
(1,659) $

(1,074)
250
(136)
(6,076) $

(15,210)
9,108
(74,225)

32,940
27,263
24,966

4,270
4,363
4,157

2,984
2,298
5,260

60,606
63,817
62,688

(34,125)
(7,978)
1,520
(40,583)

$
$
$

6,245

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$
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a)

Collateral:
As at December 31, 2013, the property, plant and equipment of consolidated entities and joint ventures with a
carrying amount of $42,303 and $1,465, respectively, are subject to a general security agreement under the
senior credit facility (December 31, 2012 - $42,022 and $1,713, January 1, 2012 - $49,047 and $2,258).

b)

Capital commitments:
As at December 31, 2013, Tuckamore had no capital commitments for the acquisition of new equipment
(December 31, 2012 – $nil).

10. Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill
Cost
Ba la nc e a t Ja nua ry 1, 2 0 12
Additions
Reclassification
Other
Ba la nc e a t De c e mbe r 3 1, 2 0 12
Additions
Reclassification
Other
Ba la nc e a t De c e mbe r 3 1, 2 0 13

Computer
software

Sales
Orders

Management
Contracts

Intangible
Total

91,723
-

$

132,777 $
(399)
(441)

2,181 $
91
(83)
89

16,538 $
(64)
-

2,444 $
-

2,000 $
-

155,940
91
(546)
(352)

$

91,723
91,723

$

131,937 $
(199)
131,738 $

2,278 $
406
2,684 $

16,474 $
16,474 $

2,444 $
2,444 $

2,000 $
2,000 $

155,133
406
(199)
155,340

$

$

(23,683)
-

(76,312)
(8,243)

(4,200)
(1)
$

544

(810)
(693)

(321)
-

-

(5,068)
-

(713)
(1,222)

(78,323)
(10,824)

-

(2,712)
1

(84,011) $
(7,405)
199

(1,503) $
(390)
-

(5,389) $ (1,933) $
(511)
(3,001)
-

(833) $
(667)
-

(8,390) $ (2,444) $

(1,500) $

(105,444)

16,217
11,085
8,084

1,833
1,167
500

(27,884) $
-

$

(30,595) $

(91,217) $

(1,893) $

Ne t book va lue
At January 1, 2012
At December 31, 2012
At December 31, 2013

$
$
$

68,040
63,839
61,128

56,465 $
47,926 $
40,521 $

1,371 $
775 $
791 $

$
$
$

32

2

(167)
(666)

(5,068)
546
(93,669)
(8,973)
(3,001)
199

Reclassification
Ba la nc e a t De c e mbe r 3 1, 2 0 13
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Brands

$

Amortiza tion a nd impa irme nts
Ba la nc e a t Ja nua ry 1, 2 0 12
Amortization for the year
Impairment
Reclassification
Ba la nc e a t De c e mbe r 3 1, 2 0 12
Amortization for the year
Impairment

Customer
relationships

$
$
$

1,731 $
511 $
- $

$
$
$

77,617
61,464
49,896
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11. Impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives
Tuckamore performed its annual test for the potential impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with an
indefinite life in the fourth quarter of 2013. This test was performed in accordance with the policy described
in note 1 and also took into consideration the Company’s market capitalization compared to its book value.
The difference between Tuckamore’s market capitalization and book value is primarily due to a high leverage
ratio and the relative size of the Company. Given the factors identified above, the market capitalization
deficiency was not considered to be an indicator of impairment.
Tuckamore has nine CGUs, three of which include goodwill and/or intangible assets with an indefinite life.
The carrying value of goodwill by Operating Partner and indefinite life intangible assets by significant CGUs
are identified separately in the table below.

Operating Partner

Indefinite
life
intangibles

Goodwill

C learStream
Wear
Oilsands
Total C learStream

$

1,574

$

1,178
2,752

$

61,128

$

5,332
8,084

$

61,128

Quantum Murray - Remediation
Total

The valuation techniques, significant assumptions and sensitivities applied in the goodwill and indefinite life
intangible asset impairment test are described below:
Valuation technique
The recoverable value is based on the higher of value in use (“VIU”) using the income approach or the fair
value less costs to sell (“FVLCS”) using the market approach. The income approach is predicated upon the
value of the future cash flows that a business will generate. The discounted cash flow (“DCF”) method was
used, which involves projecting cash flows and converting them into a present value equivalent through
discounting. The discounting process uses a rate of return that is commensurate with the risk associated
with the business or asset and the time value of money. This approach requires assumptions about earnings
before taxes, interest, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”), capital expenditures, growth rates,
working capital and discount rates.
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Growth rate and terminal value
The assumptions used were based on the Company’s internal budget. The Company used projected EBITDA
and capital expenditures for five years and applied a perpetual long-term growth rate of 2% thereafter. The
perpetual growth rates are management’s estimate of long-term inflation and productivity growth in the
industry and geographic locations in which it operates. In arriving at its forecasts, Tuckamore considered
past experience, economic trends such as Gross Domestic Product growth and inflation as well as industry
and market trends.
Discount rate
Tuckamore assumed a pre-tax discount rate of 16%-19% in order to calculate the present value of projected
future cash flows. The discount rate represented a weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) for
comparable companies operating in similar industries based on publicly available information. The WACC is
an estimate of the overall required rate of return on an investment for both debt and equity owners and
serves as the basis for developing an appropriate discount rate.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, $2,712 of goodwill and $3,001 of brand at Gemma was impaired
as a result of the continued decline in volumes from a significant customer. All of Gemma’s goodwill and
indefinite life intangibles have been written down. The recoverable amount of Gemma approximates its
carrying value.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, $5,067 of brand related to various subsidiaries of ClearStream
were written down due to a name change to ClearStream resulting from a “one company strategy” to
improve the market presence and brand strength of the organization as a whole.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, $4,201 of goodwill related to Gemma was impaired as a result
of the revenue impact of anticipated declines in the volume of business from a significant customer.
Management has considered reasonably possible changes in assumptions for the discounted cash flows. In
all of these scenarios, with the exception of those discussed above, the recoverable amount was greater
than the carrying value, providing evidence that there is no further impairment.
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12. Construction contracts
The total income and expense recognized from construction contracts in progress for Quantum Murray at year
end were as follows:
For the year ended December 31,
C osts incurred for the year
Recognized profits (losses)
C ontract revenue for the year
Progress billings

2013
2012
54,916 $ 49,925
7,812
(2,861)
$ 62,728 $ 47,064
(61,723)
(46,213)
$

Gross costs in excess of billings

$

1,005

$

851

The following are additional details for all construction contracts:
For the year ended December 31,
Aggregate amounts of costs incurred and recognized profits (less losses to date)
Holdbacks receivable
Billings in advance

2013
2012
$ 117,526 $ 119,907
9,880
8,540
482
120

2013

For the year ended December 31,
Aggregate gross costs in excess of billings (WIP)

$

7,392

$

6,910

Aggregate gross billings in excess of costs (deferred revenue)
Aggregate net costs in excess of billings

2012
$

(482)

9,103
(4,833)

$

4,270

The aggregate amounts of costs incurred and recognized in profits (less losses to date) include amounts from
projects which were completed and in progress as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively.
Holdbacks receivable are recorded in accounts receivable on the consolidated balance sheets. Billings in
advance are recorded in deferred revenue on the consolidated balance sheets.
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13. Senior credit facility and debentures
a) Senior credit facility
As at January 1, 2012 senior debt was $96,955 before deferred financing charges of $1,250.
On January 24, 2012 the sale of Waydex Services LP closed for net proceeds of $2,400 which was used
to repay senior indebtedness.
On March 9, 2012 Tuckamore completed an assignment (the “Assignment”) to Bank of Montreal (“BMO”)
of its senior credit facility from Marret. In connection with the Assignment, BMO received an assignment
of all of the rights and obligations of the Marret Lenders under the Senior Credit Facility. Tuckamore also
entered into a third amended and restated credit agreement, providing improved borrowing terms to the
Tuckamore group of companies (the “Amended Senior Credit Facility”) and appointing BMO as agent. The
maturity date of the senior credit facility is March 9, 2015. The Senior Credit Facility had an interest rate
of prime plus 1.5%, and contained customary covenants which included interest coverage ratio, priority
senior debt ratio and minimum EBITDA amount.
For accounting purposes, the assignment of the Senior Credit Facility to BMO was a de-recognition of
debt. A loss on de-recognition of $1,534 was recorded representing transaction costs and the write-off of
deferred financing costs related to the de-recognized facility.
On June 29, 2012 the sale of Armstrong Partnership LP closed for net proceeds of $3,800 which was used
to repay senior indebtedness.
Effective November 13, 2012 Tuckamore reached an agreement to amend the financial covenants related
to the Amended Senior Credit facility. The amended covenants include the interest coverage ratio,
priority senior debt ratio and the minimum EBITDA amount. The amended covenants were in effect for
three quarters commencing the quarter ended September 30, 2012. As part of the amendment, the
interest rate on the Amended Senior Credit Facility was adjusted to prime plus 1.625%. The total cost of
the amendment was 0.125% or $113.
On September 25, 2013 Tuckamore reached an agreement to amend the financial covenants (“the
Second Amendment”) related to the Senior Credit facility. The amended covenants include the interest
coverage ratio, priority senior debt ratio and the minimum EBITDA amount, and are in effect for all
quarters, commencing with the quarter ended September 30, 2013 through to December 2014. As part
of the Second Amendment, the interest rate on the Senior Credit Facility was adjusted to prime plus
1.75%. This rate can be reduced when certain leverage ratios are achieved. The total cost of the
amendment was 0.225% or $204.
Advances outstanding under the Amended Senior Credit Facility as December 31, 2013 total $90,637
with $60,000 of this amount as a revolving facility and the balance as a term facility.
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At December 31, 2013 Tuckamore was in compliance with its debt covenants. There is a risk that the
Company may not meet certain debt covenants in the future and without an amendment from its senior
lenders, the senior credit facility and debentures would be due on demand and classified as current.
Tuckamore is obligated to repay a portion of the senior credit facility prior to the maturity date of the
senior credit facility based on proceeds from specified dispositions, proceeds from the issuance of equity
instruments or based on excess operating cash flows as defined. During 2013, excess cash flows of $118
were used to repay a portion of the term facility. In March 2014, Tuckamore will repay $5,481
representing 75% of excess cash flow for the fourth quarter of 2013.

Senior credit facility at January 1, 2012

$ 96,955

Repayments

(6,200)

Senior credit facility at December 31, 2012

$ 90,755

Repayments
Senior credit facility at December 31, 2013

$ 90,637

Deferred financing costs at January 1, 2012
Additional deferred financing costs incurred on the old facility
Deferred costs written off on de-recognition of debt
Deferred financing costs incurred on new senior credit facility
Amortization of deferred financing costs

$ (1,250)
(403)
1,534
(1,961)
625

Deferred financing costs at December 31, 2012

$ (1,455)

Amortization of deferred financing costs
Deferred financing costs at December 31, 2013

$

Net balance of senior credit facility at December 31, 2013

$ 89,835

Less: C urrent portion of senior credit facility at December 31, 2013

$ (5,481)

Long-term portion of senior credit facility

$ 84,354

(118)

653
(802)

b) Secured and unsecured debentures
On February 28, 2011, Tuckamore issued a management information circular to debenture holders which
provided details of the proposed exchange of the existing convertible debentures (the “Exchange”).
Under the proposed Exchange, the existing Debentures were to be mandatorily exchanged for second lien
notes (the “Secured Debentures”) and the unpaid accrued interest on the Debentures were to be
exchanged for unsecured subordinated notes (the “Unsecured Debentures”).

On March 18, 2011, the

serial meetings of the debenture holders were held and at each meeting the debenture holders voted in
favour of the Exchange transaction. As a result, the Secured Debentures and the Unsecured Debentures
(the “New Debentures”) were issued on March 23, 2011 pursuant to a new indenture agreement.
The aggregate principal amount of the Secured Debentures is $176,228 which satisfied the principal
amount of the Debentures and principal amount and interest outstanding on the Subordinated Revolving
Credit Facility on March 23, 2011. The maturity date of the Secured Debentures is March 23, 2016 (the
“Secured Debenture Maturity Date”).

The interest rate is 8% per annum, payable semi-annually in

arrears on June 30 and December 31 in each year until the Secured Debenture Maturity Date.
Tuckamore has the option to repurchase any or all of the Secured Debentures outstanding at any time
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and Tuckamore also has the right to redeem in cash any or all Secured Debentures outstanding at any
time in its sole discretion without bonus or penalty, provided all accrued interest is paid at redemption,
assuming Tuckamore has cash available and subject to any restrictions in the senior credit facility.
Tuckamore is also obligated to redeem a portion of the Secured Debentures prior to the Secured
Debenture Maturity Date in certain circumstances based on proceeds from specified dispositions,
proceeds from the issuance of equity instruments or based on excess operating cash flow as defined.
The Secured Debentures have a security interest in substantially all of Tuckamore’s assets which is
subordinated to similar security interests granted in connection with the Senior Credit Facility or certain
debt incurred in the future by Tuckamore’s subsidiaries.

The Secured Debentures were listed on the

Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) on the date of closing of March 23, 2011.
The aggregate principal amount of the Unsecured Debentures is equal to the accrued and unpaid interest
on the Debentures at March 23, 2011 of $26,552. The maturity date is March 23, 2014 (the “Unsecured
Debenture Maturity Date”). Interest accrues on the principal amount of the Unsecured Debentures at a
non-compounding rate of 3.624% per annum, payable in cash at the Unsecured Debenture Maturity
Date.

Tuckamore will repay the principal amount of the Unsecured Debentures on the Unsecured

Debentures Maturity Date either in cash or by delivering common shares of Tuckamore Capital
Management Inc. at a conversion price of $0.2254 per common share. The total number of common
shares to be issued on the repayment of the Unsecured Debentures is capped at 10% of the outstanding
common shares of Tuckamore Capital Management Inc. on the repayment date.

The Unsecured

Debentures were listed on the TSX on the closing date of March 23, 2011. It is expected that, in
accordance with the indenture, Tuckamore will settle the Unsecured Debentures on March 23, 2014 by
delivering common shares of Tuckamore equivalent to 10% of the outstanding common shares of
Tuckamore.

Issue date
Principal amount
Interest rate
C arrying value at December 31, 2013
Accretion expense recorded in 2013
Accretion expense recorded in 2012
Maturity date
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Secured
Debentures

Unsecured
Debentures

March 23, 2011
$
176,228
8.0%
$
159,700
$
6,840
$
6,546
March 23, 2016

March 23, 2011
$
26,552
3.624%
$
24,819
$
6,038
$
4,566
March 23, 2014
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14. Obligations under finance leases
Finance lease obligations relate to vehicles and heavy equipment. The leases bear interest at rates from 1%
to 16% (2012 – 1% to 17%) per annum and are secured by specific assets. Tuckamore’s future minimum
payments are as follows:
December 31,
2013
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
Total minimum lease payments

$

6,940
5,454
4,177
2,230
965
19,766

Less amount representing interest (at rates ranging from 1% to 17%)
Present value of net minimum finance lease payments
Less current portion of obligations under finance leases
Long-term portion of obligation under finance leases

$

December
31, 2012

January 1,
2012

$

$

5,699
5,122
3,684
2,290
2,062
18,857

5,352
1,877
1,552
469
293
9,543

2,141

2,428

17,625

16,429

8,441

6,041

4,751
25,637

5,163
10,938

11,584

$

11,678

1,102

$

3,278

Interest of $1,191 for the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 - $943) relating to finance lease obligations
has been included in interest expense.

15. Commitments and other contingencies
(a) Tuckamore is committed to payments under operating leases for equipment, office premises and land
through 2029 in the total of approximately $77,838. Operating lease payments are based on contracts
currently in place. Changes to these contracts may result in changes to future commitments. The
minimum annual payments exclusive of operating costs under these lease arrangements are as follows:

December
31, 2013
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
Thereafter
Total commitments under operating leases

13,790
11,553
9,793
8,036
5,471
29,195
$

Last year of commitment

Tuckamore Capital Management Inc.

December
31, 2012

77,838
2029
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$

January 1,
2012

12,714
10,646
8,744
7,509
6,233
1,932
21,235

$

9,755
6,490
4,290
3,115
2,563
2,348
-

69,013

$

28,561

2027

2018
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Tuckamore’s contractual obligations for the years 2014 to 2018 and thereafter are as follows:
2014
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$ 65,807

2015
$

-

Senior credit facility

5,481

85,156

Secured debentures

-

-

Unsecured debentures 2

26,552

2016
$

176,228

2017
$

2018

-

$

-

Thereafter
$

-

Total
$ 65,807

-

-

-

90,637

-

-

-

176,228

-

-

-

-

-

26,552

6,940

5,454

4,177

2,230

965

-

19,766

Operating leases

13,790

11,553

9,793

8,036

5,471

29,195

77,838

C ontractual undiscounted interest payments 1

20,815

17,668

3,525

-

-

-

$139,385

$ 119,831

$193,723

C apital lease obligations

Total C ontractual Obligations

$10,266

$ 6,436

$29,195

42,008
$498,836

1

Contractual undiscounted interest payments are calculated using fixed interest rates on the Senior Credit Facility,
Secured Debentures and Unsecured Debentures. These calculations are made using the assumption that the debt
balances as at December 31, 2013 will not change until they are fully repaid at maturity.
2

Upon maturity, amounts outstanding for the Unsecured Debentures can be settled in shares of Tuckamore (note 13).

(b) The various acquisition agreements provide that elections may be made under the Income Tax Act
(Canada) to transfer the assets of the predecessor businesses to the various respective limited
partnerships on a tax deferred basis. Accordingly, the tax cost to the Operating Partnership of the assets
transferred where such elections are made may be less than the fair market value of such assets and, as
such, some of the Operating Partnerships may realize a taxable gain on a future disposition of the assets.
Certain acquisitions involved various corporate structuring steps to complete the transactions in a tax
effective manner. These transactions involved interpretations of the Income Tax Act (Canada) that could
if interpreted differently result in additional tax liabilities.

(c) Tuckamore and its Operating Partnerships are subject to material claims and litigation proceedings arising
in the normal course of operations. These contingencies are provided for when they are likely to occur
and can be reasonably estimated.
A statement of claim has been filed by a former employee of Tuckamore alleging breach of contract,
wrongful dismissal, defamation and intentional interference with economic relations. The claim is for an
amount of $6,500. The claim is being defended and management is of the opinion that the claim is
without merit.
A statement of claim has been filed by a seller of a minority position in a subsidiary of Tuckamore in
connection with the calculation of income as related to a promissory note forming part of the transaction.
The claim is being defended and management feels it is without merit. The Company has made a
counterclaim.
Quantum has filed a construction lien and statement of claim against a former customer of Quantum in
the amount of $4,778.

A counterclaim was filed by the defendant in the amount of $736. The

counterclaim is being defended and management is of the opinion that the claim is without merit.
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(d) Tuckamore has $2,950 of letters of credit outstanding as at December 31, 2013. The letters of credit are
predominantly used to secure cash management services and as a performance guarantee in certain
Operating Partnerships. The letters of credit are cash collateralized and the cash balance is included in
cash and short-term investments held in trust.
16. Revenue
The following are amounts for each significant category of revenue recognized during the years ended
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012:

For the year ended December 31,
Rendering of services
Sales of goods

$

2013
567,279
105,832

$

2012
623,785
59,971

Total revenue

$

673,111

$

683,756

17. Income taxes
The reconciliation of statutory income tax rates to Tuckamore’s effective tax rate is as follows:
For the year ended December 31,
Income tax recovery at statutory rates
Permanent differences
C hange in tax rates on temporary differences
Other

2013
5,355 $
(2,158)
(369)

$

Income tax recovery

$

2,828

2012
8,496
(3,130)
866
(1,697)

$

4,535

The major components of income tax recovery are as follows:

For the year ended December 31,
C urrent income tax expense
Based on taxable income of the current year

2013
$

Deferred income tax recovery:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Deferred tax due to changes in tax rates
Income tax recovery recorded

2012

(3) $
2,831
-

$

2,828

(671)
4,340
866

$

4,535

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:
December 31
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):
Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Debentures
Net operating losses

2013
$

(3,733) $
206
(4,839)
3,377

$

(5,650) $

Other
Total deferred income tax liabilities
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2012
(5,185)
(1,637)
(8,252)
5,960
601
(8,513)
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Tuckamore has approximately $131,851 of capital losses that have not been recognized in the consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2012 (2012 - $131,851). There is no expiry of capital losses.
18. Loss per share
The shares issuable under the stock options are the only potentially dilutive shares.
The following table sets forth the adjustments to the numerator and denominator for fully diluted income (loss)
per share:
For the year ended December 31,
Numerator:
Loss from continuing operations
Net income from discontinued operations
Net loss
Denominator:
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (basic)
Effect of stock options 1
Weighted average number of shares outstanding

2013
$
$

2012

(17,381) $
(17,381) $

(27,525)
1,962
(25,563)

71,631
-

71,631
-

71,631

71,631

1

The effect of stock options for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 was anti-dilutive.

The authorized share capital of the Company consists of: (i) an unlimited number of shares and (ii) preferred
shares issuable in series to be limited in number of an amount equal to not more than one half of the limited
and outstanding shares at the time of issuance of such preferred share. As at December 31, 2013, there were
71,631,431 shares issued and outstanding and no preferred shares issued and outstanding.
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19. Stock-based compensation
On November 30, 2009 the unitholders of Tuckamore approved an Incentive Option Plan (“IOP”). Pursuant to
the IOP, 7,100,590 shares were listed and reserved for issuance upon the exercise of the stock options
granted. On March 25, 2011, the IOP was amended to permit the adoption of a new Management Incentive
Plan (“MIP”).
Pursuant to the MIP, 7,150,000 shares were listed and reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock
options. The term and conditions of the grants are as follows:

Plan

Grant date

Number of
options

Exercise
price

Vesting dates

C ontractual
life of options

IOP

January 13, 2010
March 25, 2011

7,000,000
50,000

$0.403
$0.358

2010 to 2013
50% vest on March 25, 2012
50% vest on March 25, 2013

5 years
5 years

MIP

March 25, 2011

7,150,000

$0.358

50% vest on March 25, 2012
50% vest on March 25, 2013

5 years

Total options granted

14,200,000

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:
IOP
Weighted
average
exercise Number of
price
options
Outstanding at January 1, 2012
Granted during the year
Outstanding at December 31, 2012
Exercisable at December 31, 2012
Outstanding at December 31, 2013
Forfeited during 2013
Exercisable at December 31, 2013

$0.403
$0.358

7,000,000
50,000
7,050,000
6,841,800
7,050,000
(850,000)
6,200,000

MIP
Weighted
average
exercise Number of
price
options
$0.358

7,150,000
7,150,000
3,575,000
7,150,000
(50,000)
7,100,000

Total
7,000,000
7,200,000
14,200,000
10,416,800
14,200,000
(900,000)
13,300,000

The options outstanding at December 31, 2013 have an exercise price in the range of $0.358 to $0.403 and a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 2 years.
Tuckamore estimates stock-based compensation expense at the grant date based on the fair value of the
options as calculated by the Black-Scholes fair value option pricing model.

This fair value model requires

various judgmental assumptions including volatility and expected life of the options. The resulting fair value is
charged to compensation expense over the vesting period of the options.

The following assumptions were

used in arriving at the fair value of the options granted:
IOP
1.63%
141%
2.42 years
0%

Risk free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected weighted average life of options
Expected dividend yield
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Year ended December 31, 2013

IOP

2013 Stock based compensation expense using grant date fair value
C ontributed surplus related to stock based compensation as at
December 31, 2013
Year ended December 31, 2012
2012 Stock based compensation expense using grant date for fair value
C ontributed surplus related to stock based compensation as at
December 31, 2012

MIP

Total

$

6

$

164

$

170

$

2,847

$

3,056

$

5,903

IOP
216 $

$
$

2,841

$

MIP
960 $
2,892

$

Total
1,176
5,733

The intrinsic value of vested stock-based compensation awards outstanding as at December 31, 2013 was $nil.
20. Related party disclosures
a)

Advances to Operating Partnerships
The consolidated financial statements include Tuckamore and the subsidiaries listed in note 1. Tuckamore
regularly provides advances to the Operating Partnerships to fund working capital needs. The advances
bear interest at prime plus 1%, are unsecured and are due on demand. Advances are included in other
current assets. The following table reflects the advances to the other joint venture partners of the
Operating Partnerships:
December
31, 2013
Net advances to joint venture Operating Partners

b)

$

1,467

December
31, 2012
$

1,359

January
1, 2012
$ 1,410

Employee loans
Employee loans were made to certain management and employees. In accordance with the terms and
conditions, the loans bear interest at prime, were used to purchase shares of Tuckamore and are
collateralized by shares and in certain cases personal guarantees. The loan balance is disclosed in the
table below.

December
31, 2013
Loans to current and former employees

c)

$

1,335

December
31, 2012
$

1,335

January
1, 2012
$ 1,572

Other related party transactions
Income from equity investments includes $620 of rent expense paid to a company owned by the minority
shareholder of Gusgo for the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 - $638). These transactions occurred
in the normal course of business and are recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount of
consideration established and agreed to between the parties. Tuckamore shares space and services with a
business that employs two of its directors and paid $151 for the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012$176) for such services. Interest charged to joint venture Operating Partners on advances was $162
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(2012 - $160). Two operating leases for property, with annual rents of $312 and $300 are with a landlord
in which certain executives of Tuckamore hold an indirect minority interest. One of Tuckamore’s former
board members is a member of the executive team for a client of Gemma. Revenues in the amount of
$7,375 were realized from this client during the period in which this particular board member served on
Tuckamore’s board in 2013 (2012 - $14,200). Another former member of Tuckamore’s board is a senior
partner at a vendor from which Tuckamore obtains services. Total expenses and expenditures for services
obtained during the period in which this particular board member served on Tuckamore’s board in 2013
amounted to approximately $796 (2012 - $1,900).
d)

Compensation for Key Management Personnel
Tuckamore’s key management personnel includes the Directors, CEO, CFO, Vice Presidents and other
senior management at Tuckamore and the CEO, CFO and Vice Presidents at the Operating Partners. The
remuneration for these key management personnel during the years ended December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012 are as follows:
For the year ended December 31,

2013
$ 10,872

Short-term employment benefits
Post-employment benefits
Termination benefits

-

8

863

99

170

1,176

$ 11,905

$ 13,327

Share based payment
Total compensation

2012
$ 12,044

21. Deferred revenue

$

Balance at January 1, 2012
Deferred during the year

3,016
2,253

Realized in income during the year

(2,564)
$

Balance at December 31, 2012

2,705
2,937

Deferred during the year
Realized in income during the year

(2,594)

Balance at December 31, 2013

$

3,048

22. Financial risk management
Tuckamore has exposure to credit risk, customer concentration risk, liquidity risk and market risk.
Tuckamore’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of
Tuckamore’s risk management framework.
(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to Tuckamore if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from Tuckamore’s accounts receivable. The
carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.
Cash and short term deposits are held at Canadian financial institutions (Schedule A Banks).
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Tuckamore has a credit policy under which each new customer is analyzed individually for creditworthiness
before standard payment terms and conditions are offered. Tuckamore’s exposure to credit risk with its
customers is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.

When available,

Tuckamore reviews credit bureau ratings, bank accounts and financial information for each new customer.
A majority of Tuckamore’s customers are located in Canada and represent various industries.
ClearStream’s customers are primarily multinational oil and gas and construction companies, all of which
have strong creditworthiness.
(b) Customer concentration risk
Revenues of ClearStream are concentrated, with its top three customers representing 41.4% of
consolidated revenue for Tuckamore (2012 – 39%).
Revenues from the top three ClearStream customers represent 53.4% of ClearStream’s total revenues for
the year ended December 31, 2013 and 31.1% of the accounts receivable balance as at December 31,
2013 is due from these customers (2012 – 54% of revenues and 39% of accounts receivable).
Revenues from the top three Quantum Murray customers represent 19.9% of Quantum Murray’s total
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 22.9% of the accounts receivable balance as at
December 31, 2013 is due from these customers (2012 – 25% of revenues and 14% of accounts
receivable).
Revenues from the top three Gemma customers represent 80.7% of Gemma’s total revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2013 and 94.5% of the accounts receivable balance at December 31, 2013 is due
from these customers (2012 – 76% of revenues and 85% of accounts receivable).
On a consolidated basis, the aforementioned customers of ClearStream, Quantum Murray and Gemma
represent 47.9% of Tuckamore’s revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 27.0% of
Tuckamore’s accounts receivable balance as at December 31, 2013 (2012 – 48.1% of revenues and
33.2% of accounts receivable).
(c)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Tuckamore will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due.
Tuckamore’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to its reputation.
The maturity dates for long-term debt are 2015 and 2016 respectively. The finance lease obligations
expire in the years 2014 to 2018.
Tuckamore’s strategy is that long-term debt should always form part of its capital structure, assuming an
appropriate cost.

As existing debt approaches maturity, Tuckamore will replace it with new debt, convert

it into equity or refinance or restructure, depending on the state of the capital markets at the time.
Tuckamore manages its liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual gross profit and cash
flows from operations.
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(d)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates,
commodity prices and equity prices, will affect Tuckamore’s income or the value of its financial
instruments.
Tuckamore markets its products primarily in Canada and substantially all of its financial assets and
liabilities originate in Canadian dollars. Tuckamore is exposed to currency risk for sales and purchases
that are denominated in U.S. dollars. Tuckamore believes that this risk is minimal and has not entered
into any currency hedging transactions.
Tuckamore is exposed to currency risk on certain sales and purchases. As at December 31, 2013,
December 31, 2012 and January 1, 2012, Tuckamore’s consolidated financial statements included the
Canadian equivalent of the following U.S. dollar denominated balances:

As at
Accounts receivable

December December January 1,
31, 2013
31, 2012
2012
$

289

$

(76)
213

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$
$

478

$

(781)
(303) $

736
(766)
(30)

A 10% strengthening (weakening) in the Canadian dollar against the $U.S dollar as at December 31, 2013
would result in $21 gain (loss).
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is defined
as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and
volatilities. The Company faces commodity price risk arising from changes to the market prices for scrap
metal. The average price for scrap metal was $372/tonne as at December 31, 2013 (2012 - $404/tonne).
A $100/tonne price decrease would result in a $358 (2012 - $9,484) reduction to pre-tax earnings.
(e) Interest rate risk
This company is subject to risks associated with debt financing, including the risk that credit facilities may
not be re-financed on terms that are as favourable as those of existing indebtedness. If variable interest
rates increased or decreased by one percent, there would be a $906 change in the annual net income for
the year ended December 31, 2013.

23. Changes in non-cash balances

2013
14,932
3,205
(2,267)
209
(6,860)
343

Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue

$

Total changes in non-cash balances

$
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2012
(28,528)
11,118
(1,590)
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24. Long-term Investments
At December 31, 2013 and 2012 Tuckamore holds a 92% interest in Titan, 80% interests in Gusgo, 80%
interest in IC Group and other joint arrangements and associates. The summarized financial information for
Tuckamore’s joint arrangements and associates at 100% are as follows:
December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

January 1,
2012

C urrent assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill and intangibles
Other assets

$

28,513
2,876
12,439
1,353

$

31,263
3,101
12,420
1,353

$

37,614
3,681
12,422
1,753

Total Assets

$

45,181

$

48,137

$

55,470

C urrent liabilities
Long-term obligations

$

10,917
1,015

$

15,187
1,041

$

17,321
(1,233)

Total Liabilities

$

11,932

$

16,228

$

16,088

Total Equity

$

33,249

$

31,909

$

39,382

Tuckamore

$

28,281

$

27,115

$

33,160

Joint arrangement / associate partners

$

4,968

$

4,794

$

6,222

For the year ended December 31,
Revenues
Expenses

$

2013
82,581
75,439

$

2012
86,132
79,619

Net income

$

7,142

$

6,513

Tuckamore

$

5,780

$

5,891

Joint arrangement / associate partners

$

1,362

$

622

C ash flows provided by operating activities

$

5,352

$

2,973

C ash flows used in financing activities

$

(4,761)

C ash flows used in investing activities

$

(165)

Net increase (decrease) in cash

$

426

Attributable to:

Attributable to:

For the year ended December 31,
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25. Segmented Information
Tuckamore has four reportable operating segments, each of which has separate operational management and
management reporting information. A majority of Tuckamore’s operations, assets and employees are located
in Canada. The marketing segment represents an integrated direct marketing company and a provider of online promotional and loyalty programs and select insurance products. The industrial services segment includes
two reportable operating segments and represents investments in a fully integrated provider of mid-stream
production services to the energy industry and a provider of demolition contract services and site remediation
services. The other segment includes a distributor and manufacturer of heavy equipment, a container
transportation business and a reverse logistics provider. The corporate segment includes head office
administrative and financing costs incurred by Tuckamore. The eliminations column represents adjustments
required to reconcile Tuckamore’s segmented reporting, to the reporting on the consolidated balance sheets
and the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss. This column represents adjustments required
to account for joint ventures under IFRS 11 (see note 1).
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Year Ended
December 31, 2013

Marketing

Industrial Services

ClearStream
Revenue

$

Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation

30,461 $

522,524

(19,432)

(413,510)

(Loss) income from continuing operations

$

50,571

$

(34,612)

-

$ (70,443) $

673,111

-

47,959

(531,894)

-

27,699

15,959

(22,484)

141,217

(29,749)

(11,204)

(6,866)

15,874

(103,634)

(1,471)

(5,849)

(951)

(475)

(702)

475

(8,973)

(500)

(9,170)

(5,110)

(645)

215

(15,210)

-

(5,713)

$

139,998
(112,299)

(61,368)

(54)

Income tax recovery (expense) - deferred

$

109,014

-

$

(7,030) $

-

(11,523)

-

(342)

-

-

21,104

(18)

16

1,221

2,324

(5,827) $

23,444

54

11,523

Amortization

1,471

Depreciation

500

$

(8,453) $
(497)

$

-

(8,950) $

-

(715)

5,780

(21,156)

-

-

3,565

$ (29,369) $

114
-

(20,209)

-

(27)

26

(3)

(51)

(166)

-

2,831

3,514

$ (29,562) $

(0) $

(17,381)
-

Interest expense

Income tax expense (recovery) - current

18
(1,221)

Total assets as at:
December 31, 2013
Total liabilities as at:
December 31, 2013

5,780
(33,676)
(5,713)

(26) $

Add back:

EBITDA

Total

11,029

Interest expense
(Loss) income before taxes
Income tax (expense) recovery - current

Corporate Eliminations

(10,321)

Income from equity investment
Write- down of goodwill and intangible assets

Other

Quantum
Murray

$

342

715

21,156

(114)

5,849

951

475

702

(475)

8,973

9,170

5,110

-

645

(215)

15,210

-

27

(26)

51

166

-

(6,866) $

(831) $

(16)

-

(2,324)

497
$

(2,050) $

4,755

$

33,676

3
(2,831)

(5,005) $

47,646

37,649

14,650

251,451

83,993

25,189

37,265

(10,024)

402,524

6,459

137,032

54,150

23,431

155,436

(10,024)

366,484

Included in the assets and liabilities of the Marketing, Industrial and Other segments are long-term investments in
joint ventures and associates of $6,302, $2,516 and $19,463, respectively.
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TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Year Ended
December 31, 2012

Revenue
C ost of revenue
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation
Income from equity investments
Interest expense
Loss on de-recognition of debt
Restructuring costs
Write-down of goodwill and intangibles
(Loss) income before income taxes
Income tax expense - current
Income tax recovery (expense) - deferred
(Loss) income from continuing operations
Add back:
Interest expense
Amortization
Depreciation
Income tax expense - current
Income tax expense (recovery) - deferred
EBITDA

Marketing

Industrial Services
Quantum
C learStream Murray

Other C orporate Eliminations

$36,566
(23,962)
12,604

$ 500,490
(413,555)
86,935

$169,163
(139,085)
30,078

$51,188
(34,592)
16,596

(9,735)
(3,129)
(639)
(46)
(4,201)

(49,246)
(5,812)
(8,491)
(11,948)
(5,067)

(31,304)
(1,161)
(5,509)
(347)
(861)
-

(10,623)
(535)
(716)
-

(9,104)
2,027
(7,077)

$ 4,722
(100)
$ 4,622

$ (5,146)
(90)
53
$ (5,183)

$

$

46
3,129
639
90
(53)
$ (1,332)

6,371 $
(685)
1,900
7,586 $
11,948
5,812
8,491

$

685
(1,900)
32,622 $

347
1,161
5,509
(2,027)
(2,087)

716
535
100
$ 5,973

$

-

$ (73,651)
50,871
(22,780)

(6,882)
(724)
(3)
(19,770)
(1,534)
-

$ 683,756
(560,323)
123,433

15,937
2
739
5,891
221
-

$(28,913) $
1,440
$(27,473) $
19,770
724
3
(1,440)
$ (8,416)

Total

10
104
(114)
(221)
(2)
(739)

$

(91,853)
(10,824)
(14,438)
5,891
(32,606)
(1,534)
(861)
(9,268)
$ (32,060)
(671)
5,206
$ (27,525)
32,606
10,824
14,438

(104)
114
(952) $

671
(5,206)
25,808

Total assets as at:
December 31, 2012

25,560

263,449

91,920

24,954

22,250

(13,595)

414,538

Total liabilities as at:
December 31, 2012

11,253

172,915

53,104

23,035

114,575

(13,595)

361,287

Included in the assets and liabilities of the Marketing, Industrial and Other segments are long-term investments in
joint ventures and associates of $6,483, $2,121 and $18,511, respectively.
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TUCKAMORE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
26. Capital management
Tuckamore’s capital structure is comprised of shareholders’ equity and short and long-term debt. Tuckamore’s
objective is to maintain access to diverse and cost-effective sources of capital with which to finance its
operations, cash resources and investments made by it in the Operating Partnerships.

Tuckamore also

provides working capital advances to the Operating Partnerships.
Tuckamore is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements other than standard and restrictive
financial covenants on its senior facility and debentures with which it must comply. As at December 31, 2013
and 2012 Tuckamore was in compliance with all financial covenants.
27. Non-monetary transactions
The receipt of consideration in the form of scrap materials was recorded as non-monetary transactions
measured at fair value using active market prices. During the year ended December 31, 2013, $613 (2012 $12,745) of scrap materials were received as consideration for demolition services provided and recorded as
revenue.
28. Comparative figures
As a result of the adoption of IFRS 11 the comparative consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss
has been reclassified from statements previously presented to conform to the presentation in the December
31, 2013 consolidated financial statements. Please refer to note 1 and 2 for more information.
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